RECEIVED 05-02-2019

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS – DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2019AP21-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KEITH M. ABBOTT,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Rock County Circuit Court, the Honorable Michael A. Haakenson, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

FRANCES REYNOLDS COLBERT Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1050435

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-3440 colbertf@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Can law enforcement seize a patient's personal bag without a warrant?

The circuit court answered yes.

2. Can an estranged wife consent to the search and seizure of her husband's clothing?

The circuit court answered yes.

3. Is an equivocal invocation of the right to counsel during a custodial interrogation sufficient when, under the totality of the circumstances, it is clear the defendant has difficulty mentally processing information and asserting himself?

The circuit court held the invocation of the right to an attorney must be unambiguous and unequivocal.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Abbott does not request publication because this case involves the application of established case law. Mr. Abbott anticipates the briefs will fully address the issues and therefore does not request oral argument.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is the result of the disappearance and death of Kristen Miller. Miller was the mother of Abbott's step-son's daughter. (2:2) Abbott was the court appointed third-party supervisor for a child custody exchange between his step-son and Miller. (2:2) It is alleged Abbott had a sexual affair with Miller and that Miller was blackmailing Abbott to keep the affair a secret. (2:3-4).

Miller was reported missing on January 1, 2011. (2:3). Her body was later found in Rock County on January 31, 2011 and it was determined her death was caused by multiple stab wounds to the torso. (2:3). Abbott suffered a mental breakdown on January 3, 2011, and has no recollection of events from January 1 until January 3, 2011, when he, too, was missing. (2:2, 4) Miller's blood was found on Abbott's clothing and on his truck on January 3, 2011. (2:3).

Abbott, who was charged with first-degree intentional homicide of Miller and hiding her corpse in February of 2011, has been unwavering in his

¹ Abbott was originally charged in Racine County Case No. 11CF182 on February 3, 2011. See Criminal Court Record for Racine County Case No. 11CF182 (App. 101-103); Kirk v. Credit Acceptance Corp. 2013 WI App 32, ¶5 n.1, 346 Wis. 2d 635, 829 N.W.2d 522 (this court may take judicial notice of circuit court records). However, the prosecution moved to dismiss the Racine County case because it did not believe that the evidence was sufficient to prove venue in Racine County. (App. 103). The motion for dismissal was granted and this case was refiled in Rock County on June 10, 2011. (1).

claim of innocence. In the seven years after the charges were filed, however, Abbott's competency to stand trial was heavily litigated and the proceedings were stayed on and off during periods of Abbott's incompetency. Ultimately, Abbott was competent and in September of 2017, Abbott entered an $Alford^2$ plea to the reduced charge of seconddegree intentional homicide. (223).

Prior to the plea, the defense litigated multiple suppression issues.³ The defense won some of the suppression issues it raised. Namely, the lower court suppressed all Abbott's pre-arrest statements – the state did not meet its burden to show Abbott's pre-arrest custodial statements were voluntary (216:3-9, 215:18-22; App. 143-147); and also, the lower court suppressed the last portion of the post-arrest interrogation because it was conducted after Abbott had unequivocally invoked his right to an attorney and no attorney was present. (215:26-27; App. 151-52).

This appeal stems from three erroneous trial suppress.4 themotions to court rulings on

² North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970).

³ (See Record Documents 126, 128, 130, 133, 134, 136, 138, 141, 142 and 144 (suppression motions); 213 (evidentiary hearing); 214, 215, 216 (oral rulings)).

As a matter of statute and public policy, orders denying motions to suppress are not subject to the guilty-pleawaiver rule and may be challenged on appeal. Wis. Stat. § 971.31(10); State v. Reikkoff, 112 Wis. 2d 119, 124-125, 332 N.W.2d 744 (1983).

Case 2019AP000021 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-02-2019 Page 11 of 44

Specifically: (1) the trial court erred when it ruled the seizure of Abbott's personal patient bag was lawful; (2) the trial court erred when it ruled Abbott's estranged wife could consent to the seizure of Abbott's clothing; (3) the trial court erred when it did not suppress all post-arrest custodial statements made by Abbott after he had invoked his right to an attorney.

The facts related to each suppression issue will be discussed in each claim.

ARGUMENT

When police investigated Miller's disappearance, they took several shortcuts around the constitution. Law enforcement repeatedly seized evidence without a warrant, even though there were no exigent circumstances and there was time to obtain one. In addition, law enforcement repeatedly interrogated Abbott without affording him the rights guaranteed to him by the United States Constitution and *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

The fact that the crime under investigation was homicide and police and the public have a great interest in finding the perpetrator of such a crime law enforcement relieve of does not constitutional duties. See e.g. Mincey v. Arizona, 437 U.S. 385, 394-95 (1978) (explaining there is no principled Fourth Amendment distinction between "extremely serious crimes" and less serious crimes when it comes to the requirements of the Fourth Amendment). Indeed, it is in serious crimes, where the stakes are high, that Fourth Amendment protections are most critical.

This appeal renews the defense claims that the there is no recognized exception to the warrant requirement that would permit the seizure of Abbott's clothing from his patient personal bag. He also renews the claim that his estranged wife had no authority to consent to the seizure of his clothing at his house. Lastly, Abbott renews his claim that he sufficiently invoked his right to an attorney before he was interrogated after his arrest.

Case 2019AP000021 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-02-2019 Page 13 of 44

The relevant facts for each claim are taken from the circuit court's findings of fact in the oral rulings following the suppression hearing (214, 215 and 216) as well as the suppression hearing itself. (213, 226).

I. Evidence Obtained from the Warrantless Seizure of the Patient's Personal Bag Must Be Suppressed Because Law Enforcement Failed to Obtain a Warrant.

When deciding whether to suppress the evidence found in Abbott's patient personal bag, the circuit court considered only the privacy interests at stake. The Fourth Amendment, however, also protects possessory interest in property and Abbott had a possessory interest in his personal property in the patient bag. Because the patient bag was not in plain view and because the incriminating nature of the evidence was not immediately apparent at the time the bag was seized, the seizure violated Abbott's possessory interests and was therefore in contravention the Fourth Amendment.

A. Facts and Lower Court Ruling Related to the Seizure of Abbott's Patient Personal Bag.

At 6:23 am on January 3, 2011, Officer Robert Gelden and Officer Gary Kovacs went to the Abbott home in response to an emergency call. (214:5; 215: 3-4; App. 108, 128-29). When they arrived, they found Abbott sitting on the floor, rocking back and forth

Case 2019AP000021 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-02-2019 Page 14 of 44

with his head between his knees and his face in his hands, unresponsive to questioning. (215:3; App. 128).

Abbott was transported to the hospital and was placed in a treatment room for the remainder of the day. (215:3-4; App 128-29). While in the treatment room, Abbott was on a gurney and in a hospital gown. (215:6, 8, 19; App. 131, 133, 138). Abbott's personal effects, including his shoes, socks, pants, and a shirt were placed in a clear plastic personal belongings bag. (214:8; 215:7; App. 111, 132). The bag was kept in the treatment room or somewhere near it. (214:8; App. 111).

After escorting Abbott to the emergency room, Officer Kovacs left the hospital, however at 9:30 am, Officer Kovacs received a call from an emergency room staff person "indicat[ing] she had observed some injuries on Mr. Abbott suspicious and some suspicious spots on Mr. Abbott's clothing." (215:4; App. 129). Officer Kovacs returned to the hospital, at which time the nurse showed Officer Kovacs Abbott's white socks with some brownish spots on them. (215:4; App. 129).

Officer Kovacs testified that he himself, "had no idea as to what [the spots] may be." (213:52-53). There is no evidence about what, if anything, the nurse knew about Abbott's relationship with Miller or why, at 9:30 am before police questioning, she would think the spots were suspicious.

Eight officers from "several different law enforcement agencies" interrogated Abbott that day.

Case 2019AP000021 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-02-2019 Page 15 of 44

(216:6). Officer Kovacs testified that he knew that Abbott was having some sort of breakdown and there was concern that Abbott may have wanted to hurt himself. (213:56). Abbott's brother reported to police that Abbott "indicated to him that he may have done something bad." (213:55). At some point, Abbott purportedly said to Officer Kovacs, "I may have hurt someone." (213:57).Abbott also purportedly acknowledged to law enforcement that he had a sexual encounter with Miller. (213:58). Officer Kovacs testified that he did not know when during the day this information came out or when he became aware Miller was missing. (213:57-58).

At some point that day, it is unclear when, hospital staff gave Officer Kovacs Abbott's patient personal belonging bag and Officer Kovacs collected the clothing as evidence. (214:8; 215:7; App. 111, 132).

At 12:30 pm the chief of police advised Officer Kovacs that they lacked probable cause to arrest Abbott. (215:8; App. 132). At 6 pm, Abbott was committed to a mental institution under Chapter 51. (214:8; App. 111).

The defense alleged the seizure of the patient belongings bag was in violation Abbott's Fourth Amendment rights and therefore evidence contained within it must be suppressed. (126, 127). The circuit court, relying heavily on *State v. Thompson*, 222 Wis. 2d 179, 585 N.W.2d 905 (Wis. App. 1998), held Abbott did not have a privacy interest in the patient belongings bag and the seizure of the evidence in the bag was therefore lawful. (214:15-17; App. 118-120).

B. Applicable Constitutional Provisions and Standard of Review.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution guarantee the right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. The Fourth Amendment states:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

The Fourth Amendment protects two separate and distinct interests — a privacy interest and a property interest. The prohibition against unreasonable searches and the requirement that a warrant "particularly describ [e] the place to be searched" protects an individual's privacy interests. Horton v. California, 496 U.S. 128, 143, (1990). The prohibition against unreasonable seizures and the requirement that a warrant "particularly describ[e] ... the ... things to be seized" protects a possessory interest in property. Id.

A basic and long established principle under the Fourth Amendment holds that the seizure of personal property is "per se unreasonable within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment unless it is accomplished pursuant to a judicial warrant issued upon probable cause...." *United States v. Place*, 462 Case 2019AP000021 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-02-2019 Page 17 of 44

U.S. 696, 701, (1983). While there are several recognized exceptions to the warrant requirement, they are "narrow and well-delineated" and are to be "jealously and carefully drawn." Flippo v. W. Virginia, 528 U.S. 11, (1999); Jones v. United States, 357 U.S. 493, 499, (1958); State v. Kieffer, 217 Wis. 2d 531, 541–42, 577 N.W.2d 352 (1998).

The rationale for construing exceptions narrowly is the principle deeply rooted in American jurisprudence that "the informed and deliberate determinations of magistrates ... are to be preferred over the hurried action of officers." *Georgia v. Randolph*, 547 U.S. 103 at 117 (2006) (quoting *United States v. Lefkowitz*, 285 U.S. 452, (1932)). Where an unlawful search or seizure occurs, the remedy is to suppress the evidence produced. *State v. Carroll*, 2010 WI 8, ¶19, 322 Wis. 2d 299, 778 N.W.2d 1; *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 487-88 (1963).

The state bears the burden to prove that one of the narrowly drawn exceptions to the warrant requirement applies. *State v. Denk*, 2008 WI 130, ¶36, 315 Wis. 2d 5, 758 N.W.2d 775. "Whether police conduct has violated the constitutional guarantees against unreasonable searches and seizures is a question of constitutional fact." *State v. Tomlinson*, 2002 WI 91, ¶ 19, 254 Wis. 2d 502, 648 N.W.2d 367. While deferring to the circuit court's findings of evidentiary and historical fact, appellate courts "independently apply those historical facts to the constitutional standard." *Id*.

- C. Law Enforcement Seized Abbott's Patient Personal Bag in Violation of the Fourth Amendment.
 - 1. The Fourth Amendment protects possessory interests in a patient's personal bag and the plain view doctrine therefore governs the seizure of the patient bag.

Simply being admitted to the emergency room does not mean that a patient's personal belongings can be turned over to the government without a warrant. The circuit court reasoned, however, that the facts and holding of *State v. Thompson*, 222 Wis. 2d 179, direct that Abbott had no privacy interest in the emergency room and therefore the seizure of Abbott's patient personal was lawful. *Thompson*, however, addressed a very different fact scenario and offers an incomplete analysis on the property interests at stake when a patient's personal effects are seized by law enforcement.

In *Thompson*, the defendant swallowed multiple bags of cocaine in an effort to conceal the contraband from law enforcement during a traffic stop and as a result, Thompson developed seizures and was taken to the hospital. *Thompson*, 222 Wis. 2d at 182. At the hospital, Thompson's clothing was removed and dropped on the floor along with his pager and a \$100 bill. *Id*. A police officer seized the clothes, the pager and the \$100 bill. *Id*.

A doctor then advised the officer that without surgery to remove the ingested drugs, Thompson Case 2019AP000021 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-02-2019 Page 19 of 44

risked death. *Id.* Hospital staff provided the officer with a surgical gown and the officer observed the surgery. *Id.* After the cocaine was removed, the cocaine was placed in a jar and given to the officer. *Id.* at 182-83.

The defense in *Thompson* alleged the officer's presence in the operating room and the seizure of the evidence from the operating and emergency rooms violated Thompson's Fourth Amendment rights. The *Thompson* court held that Thompson had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the emergency room or the operating room. *Id.* at 195. Accordingly, the *Thompson* court held, the Fourth Amendment was not implicated and the officer's actions were lawful. *Id.*

The United State Supreme Court has held, however, that the Fourth Amendment protects against unreasonable seizures of property even when privacy interests are not implicated. See Horton v. California, 496 U.S. at 133-134 (1990); Texas v. Brown, 460 U.S. 730, 739 (1983) (Rehnquist, J., "If the boundaries of plurality). the Amendment were defined exclusively by rights of privacy, 'plain view' seizures would not implicate that constitutional provision at all. Yet, far from being automatically upheld, 'plain view' seizures have been scrupulously subjected to Fourth Amendment Soldal v. Cook County, Ill. 506 U.S. 56, inquiry." 66 (1992). Thus, the absence of a privacy interest notwithstanding, "[a] seizure of the article

Case 2019AP000021 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-02-2019 Page 20 of 44

obviously invade[s] the owner's possessory interest." *Id.*, at 134; *Brown*, 460 U.S., at 739, (Rehnquist, J., plurality).

Under Thompson, 222 Wis. 2d 179, it is clear that Abbott did not retain any legitimate expectation of privacy when he was admitted into the emergency room. Law enforcement personnel were lawfully present in the emergency room and therefore had the authority to conduct any reasonable search. Abbott did, however, retain a possessory interest in his personal effects. Unlike *Thompson*, the items seized in this case were not in plain view and the incriminatory nature was not immediately apparent. Absent consent or another exception to the warrant requirement, a warrantless seizure can be justified only if it meets the probable-cause standard required of the plain view doctrine. Arizona v. Hicks, 480 U.S. 321, 326-327, (1987). Because the plain-view doctrine was inapplicable to the facts of this case and no other exception to the warrant requirement applied, the seizure of Abbott's personal patient bag was unlawful.

2. The facts do not support a finding that the patient bag was lawfully seized under the plain view doctrine.

Above all, the state did not argue, or present evidence, that police had probable cause to seize the patient personal bag. The state has therefore forfeited the argument because it has failed to raise it below, and thus failed to meet its burden that an exception to the warrant requirement applies. See

Case 2019AP000021 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-02-2019 Page 21 of 44

A.O. Smith Corp. v. Allstate Ins. Cos., 222 Wis. 2d 475, 491, 588 N.W.2d 285 (Ct. App. 1998).

Notwithstanding that the plain view exception argument was forfeited because it was not raised below, the facts do not support a finding that police had probable cause to believe the bag contained evidence of a crime at the time it was seized. For the plain-view doctrine to apply, the state must show (1) the evidence was in plain view, (2) the officer had a lawful right of access to the object itself, and (3) the object's incriminating character must be immediately apparent. *State v. Guy*, 172 Wis. 2d 86, 101–02, 492 N.W.2d 311 (1992) (citing *Horton*, 496 U.S. at 136–37). Here, the only prong that is met is prong (2): Abbott had no privacy interest in the emergency room and therefore law enforcement had a right to be there.

The state fails to meet its burden on the other two prongs for several reasons. First, the suspected blood on the socks was not in plain view. Abbott's personal effects were sequestered in a bag, out of sight. Law enforcement only became aware of the socks when a nurse notified Officer Kovacs the socks were suspicious. It is not apparent, however, why the suspected blood on clothing in an emergency would be suspicious or what other information the nurse possessed that would lead her to that conclusion. Second, even when the socks were brought to Officer Kovacs attention, the incriminatory nature was not evident to him. Officer Kovacs testified he had "no idea" what the spots on the socks might be. (213:52-53).

In short, spots of blood on clothing in an emergency room, in and of itself, is not enough to establish that the clothing is evidence of a crime. If it were, it would mean the government could seize the clothing of any a patient who came to the emergency room after being bloodied in an accident. This would be an untenable invasion of possessory interests protected by the Fourth Amendment.

The *Thompson* court, unfortunately, did not discuss the defendant's possessory interest in the items seized or how the plain view doctrine applied to the facts of the case. The facts of that case show, however, that the defendant would not have had a possessory interest in the seized bags of cocaine, a restricted controlled substance, and incriminatory nature of a pager and \$100 belonging to an individual who had just swallowed four bags of cocaine would have been immediately apparent. Unlike Abbott's clothing which was tucked away in a bag, the items seized in Thompson scattered about the emergency room or were otherwise in plain view.⁵

⁵ Significantly, the *Thompson* court noted that the alleged Fourth Amendment violation in that case was not that the officer improperly rifled through Thompson's belongings but rather that it was improper for the officer to be in the treatment rooms in the hospital. *Thompson*, 222 Wis. 2d at n.8. The record did not establish whether the pager and \$100 bill were in plain view or whether they were concealed in the clothing that had been removed. *Id.* The *Thompson* court declined to address the legality of the search had the items been concealed. *Id.*

Case 2019AP000021 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-02-2019 Page 23 of 44

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