Case 2019AP000021 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-23-2019 Page 1 of 49

RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **07-18-2019**

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2019AP21-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KEITH M. ABBOTT,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, ENTERED IN THE ROCK COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONRABLE MICHAEL A. HAAKENSON, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENT APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

AMY C. MILLER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1101533

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

When the Legislature abrogated the guilty-plea-waiver rule for certain claims, it did not abrogate the defendant's burden to show a manifest injustice warranting plea withdrawal. While the Legislature may alter or abrogate the common law, *Houle v. Sch. Dist. of Ashland*, 2003 WI App 214, ¶ 13, 267 Wis. 2d 708, 671 N.W.2d 395, "[a] statute does not change the common law unless the legislative purpose to do

⁸ Both the manifest-injustice framework and guilty-pleawaiver rule apply to *Alford* pleas. *See State v. Smith*, 202 Wis. 2d 21, 25, 549 N.W.2d 232 (1996); *State v. Kelty*, 2006 WI 101, \P 18, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886.

so is clearly expressed in the language of the statute." Fuchsgruber v. Custom Accessories, Inc., 2001 WI 81, ¶ 25, 244 Wis. 2d 758, 628 N.W.2d 833. Thus, in order "[t]o accomplish a change in the common law, the language of a statute must be clear, unambiguous, and peremptory." Id. In 1969, when the Legislature enacted section 971.31(10), the defendant's burden to show a manifest injustice warranting plea withdrawal was part of the common law. See State v. Reppin, 35 Wis. 2d 377, 385–86, 151 N.W.2d 9 (1967) (formally adopting the manifest-injustice framework). There is no indication in the text of section 971.31(10) that it was meant to abrogate the manifest-injustice framework or relieve the defendant of his burden. See 1969 Wis. Laws, ch. 255, § 63. Thus, when raising a claim under section 971.31(10), a defendant must still show that a manifest injustice warrants plea withdrawal.

If a defendant wishes to show that a constitutional violation occurring outside of the plea colloquy constitutes a manifest injustice, the defendant must show that the violation caused him to plead. Showing a manifest injustice requires showing a "serious flaw in the fundamental integrity of the plea." *Thomas*, 232 Wis. 2d 714, ¶ 16 (citation omitted). An error that does not affect the plea cannot cause a flaw, serious or otherwise, in the fundamental integrity of the plea. Accordingly, courts have consistently held that a defendant must show that a constitutional violation occurring outside of the plea colloquy caused him to plead. *Harris*, 272 Wis. 2d 80, ¶¶ 11–23 (alleged *Brady* violation); *State v. Sturgeon*, 231 Wis. 2d 487, 605 N.W.2d 589 (Ct. App. 1999) (same); *Hatcher v. State*, 83 Wis. 2d 559, 266 N.W.2d 320 (1978) (alleged speedy-trial violation). Thus, when arguing that a

⁹ Indeed, prior to the passage of section 971.31(10), the Wisconsin Supreme Court had twice indicated that a defendant must show causation when arguing that a suppression issue

constitutional violation by law enforcement in gathering evidence against a defendant warrants plea withdrawal, the defendant must show not only that a constitutional violation occurred, but also that the violation caused him to plead. *See Harris*, 272 Wis. 2d 80, \P 11. 10

Previously, this Court and the Wisconsin Supreme Court applied conflicting standards to the question of causation when a defendant claimed that a suppression issue warranted plea withdrawal.

First, the Wisconsin Supreme Court wavered as to who bears the burden of showing either causation or harmlessness. Prior to the enactment of section 971.31(10), the Court indicated a requirement that the defendant show that a disputed suppression issue caused him to plead. Hawkins, 26 Wis. 2d at 448–50; State v. Biastock, 42 Wis. 2d 525, 531–33, 167 N.W.2d 231 (1969). And even after the Legislature enacted section 971.31(10), the Court still referenced causation in cases brought under the statute. See, e.g., Pontow v. State, 58 Wis. 2d 135, 137, 205 N.W.2d 775

must show causation when arguing that a suppression issue warranted plea withdrawal. *Hawkins v. State*, 26 Wis. 2d 443, 448–50, 132 N.W.2d 545 (1965); *State v. Biastock*, 42 Wis. 2d 525, 531–33, 167 N.W.2d 231 (1969). The language of section 971.31(10) does not indicate an intent to alter this requirement, *see* 1969 Wis. Laws, ch. 255, § 63, and so this requirement should have remained part of the common law. *See Fuchsgruber v. Custom Accessories*, *Inc.*, 2001 WI 81, ¶ 25, 244 Wis. 2d 758, 628 N.W.2d 833.

¹⁰ Courts have also required that the defendant show he was unaware of his claim prior to pleading. *See Harris*, 2004 WI 64, ¶ 11, 272 Wis. 2d 80, 680 N.W.2d 737. However, this requirement is meant to overcome the guilty-plea-waiver rule, *see Ernst v. State*, 43 Wis. 2d 661, 667, 170 N.W.2d 713 (1969), *overruled in part on other grounds by State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986) (citing *Biastock*, 42 Wis. 2d at 532), a rule that does not apply when the defendant challenges a circuit court's suppression decision pursuant to section 971.31(10).

(1973); State v. Taylor, 60 Wis. 2d 506, 510, 210 N.W.2d 873 (1973). Then, without explanation, the Court ceased requiring a causal link between the suppression issue and the plea, going so far as to reject the State's proffered harmlessness analysis. See Soehle v. State, 60 Wis. 2d 72, 80, 208 N.W.2d 341 (1973); State v. Monahan, 76 Wis. 2d 387, 401, 251 N.W.2d 421 (1977) (rejecting harmlessness analysis). 11 Finally, in State v. Armstrong, the Wisconsin Supreme Court limited its holding in *Monahan* and applied a harmless-error analysis to an appeal brought under section 971.31(10), placing the burden on the State to prove harmlessness. 223 Wis. 2d 331, 367–70, 588 N.W.2d 606 (1999), opinion modified by 225 Wis. 2d 121, 591 N.W.2d 604 (1999). The Court based its decision on the harmless-error statute, Wis. Stat. § 805.18, without explaining why appeals brought under section 971.31(10) should be exempt from the manifest-injustice framework. See Armstrong, 223 Wis. 2d at 367–72.

Second, this Court espoused inconsistent burdens of proof under the *Armstrong* harmlessness analysis. In *Armstrong*, the Court defined the State's burden as showing that "no reasonable possibility" exists that the defendant would not have pled guilty. 223 Wis. 2d at 368–70. The Court clarified that "reasonable possibility" is identical to the

This Court later addressed a problem created by this scheme. In *State v. Pozo*, the defendant raised under section 971.31(10) a suppression issue regarding evidence of a charge that had been dismissed and therefore could have had "no possible impact on the defendant's plea." 198 Wis. 2d 705, 713–14, 717, 544 N.W.2d 228 (Ct. App. 1995). If there were no need for a causal connection between the suppression issue and the plea, then the defendant should have been permitted to withdraw his plea regardless of whether the suppression issue pertained to a separate, dismissed charge. *See id.* at 715–16. This Court, however, declined to permit such an "absurd result[]" to obtain, holding instead that section 971.31(10) does not permit the appeal of suppression issues relating to charges outside of the plea. *Id.* at 715, 717 & n.4.

Case 2019AP000021 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-23-2019 Page 40 of 49

"reasonable probability" standard from *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). *Armstrong*, 233 Wis. 2d at 369, 372 n.40. However, this Court later held that the Wisconsin Supreme Court's decision in *State v. Hale*, 2005 WI 7, 277 Wis. 2d 593, 691 N.W.2d 637, alters the harmlessness analysis under section 971.31(10) such that the State must prove that an erroneous suppression decision was harmless "beyond a reasonable doubt." *Rockette*, 287 Wis. 2d 257, ¶ 26 (citation omitted). However, this Court has subsequently referred to both burdens when assessing harmlessness under section 971.31(10). *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Dawson*, No. 2013AP834-CR, 2013 WL 6231295, at *2 (Wis. Ct. App. Dec. 3, 2013) (unpublished).

Finally, this Court set forth differing sets of factors to consider in the harmlessness analysis. In State v. Semrau this Court explained that, to determine whether an erroneous suppression decision was harmless, courts should consider the strength of both the State's and defendant's cases, "the persuasiveness" of the disputed evidence, any reasons expressed by the defendant for why he pled, "the benefits obtained by the defendant in exchange for the plea," and "the thoroughness of the plea colloquy." 2000 WI App 54, ¶¶ 21-22, 233 Wis. 2d 508, 608 N.W.2d 373. Then, in Rockette, this Court altered that list, holding that courts should consider "the frequency of the error, the importance of the erroneously admitted evidence, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the erroneously admitted evidence, whether the improperly admitted evidence duplicates untainted evidence, the nature of the defense, and the nature and overall strength of the State's case." 287 Wis. 2d 257, ¶ 26. Because these factors come from caselaw discussing trial errors, this Court did not inquire into the defendant's expressed reasons for pleading, the benefit that defendant obtained by entering a plea, or the thoroughness of the plea colloquy. See id. ¶¶ 26–31. However,

Case 2019AP000021 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-23-2019 Page 41 of 49

these factors should still be relevant to an inquiry into whether the defendant would have pled absent a particular error.

This conflicting caselaw is inconsistent with recent Wisconsin Supreme Court caselaw applying the manifestinjustice framework, and so the more recent caselaw should control and the manifest-injustice framework should apply. Armstrong and its progeny require only that the defendant show that the circuit court erred in deciding a suppression issue. Armstrong, 233 Wis. 2d at 367–72; Semrau, 233 Wis. 2d 508, ¶¶ 21–22; *Rockette*, 287 Wis. 2d 257, ¶ 26. More recent caselaw, however, requires that the defendant show a manifest injustice warranting plea withdrawal even when there has been an error in the plea colloguy. Taylor, 347 Wis. 2d 30, ¶¶ 43–54. Because this caselaw is arguably inconsistent, this Court should follow the Wisconsin Supreme Court's "most recent pronouncement," see State v. Clark, 179 Wis. 2d 484, 493, 507 N.W.2d 172 (Ct. App. 1993), and require that defendants seeking post-sentencing plea withdrawal show that a manifest injustice warrants such withdrawal, even when there has been an error.

2. Under either the manifest-injustice framework or a harmlessness analysis, Abbott is not entitled to withdraw his plea.

Under the manifest-injustice framework, a defendant must meet a certain threshold to show that a constitutional violation caused him to plead. To show causation, the defendant must show "a reasonable probability that, but for the [error, he] would have refused to plead and would have insisted on going to trial." *Sturgeon*, 231 Wis. 2d at 503–04. To make this determination, courts look to "(1) the relative strength and weakness of the State's case and the defendant's case; (2) the persuasiveness of the withheld evidence; (3) the reasons, if any, expressed by the defendant for choosing to

plead guilty; (4) the benefits obtained by the defendant in exchange for the plea; and (5) the thoroughness of the plea colloquy." *Id.* at 504.

Here, Abbott fails to show that the circuit court's suppression decisions, either individually or in combination, caused him to plead. Abbott has provided little to no evidence as to any of the relevant factors. He points out only that he pled pursuant to Alford, thereby maintaining a claim of innocence, and argues that the evidence subject to the disputed suppression decisions represented "significant pieces" of the State's case. (Abbott's Br. 32). But, as explained below, even if all the evidence that Abbott disputes on appeal had been inadmissible, the State still had a wealth of evidence to support the charge that Abbott murdered Kristin and disposed of her body. Moreover, Abbott's defense was weak, and the benefit he obtained from the plea bargain great. Finally, Abbott offers no argument that each suppression decision caused him to plead, such that if this Court disagrees with only some of the disputed decisions, Abbott should still be permitted to withdraw his plea.

Even if the State must show beyond a reasonable doubt that Abbott would still have pled, the State meets that burden here, even if all of the circuit court's disputed suppression decisions were incorrect.

First, the State's case against Abbott was extremely powerful even without any of the disputed evidence. *Rockette*, 287 Wis. 2d 257, ¶ 26; *Semrau*, 233 Wis. 2d 508, ¶ 22. Abbott's statements during the February 1 interrogation were duplicative. Abbott's wife told law enforcement that Abbott was having an affair with Kristin and that Kristin was blackmailing him. (R.213:14–15, 28, 33–34.) And even without the bloody clothing from the hospital and from Abbott's home, the State still had substantial physical evidence tying Abbott to the murder. Law enforcement found Kristin's blood on Abbott's truck and on blankets in the truck-

Case 2019AP000021 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-23-2019 Page 43 of 49

bed, and found at Abbott's wood shop the same plastic wrap used to wrap Kristin's body and a film of sawdust similar to that found on the plastic wrapping Kristin's body. (R.2:2-3; 118:1–3; 210:35.) Finally, other evidence pointed to Abbott's having committed the murder. Witnesses explained that Abbott and Kristin were both missing between January 1 and January 3 and told police that they had seen Kristin's car at Abbott's wood shop during that time but could not find Kristin. (See R.213:55, 58–59.) Abbott's cell phone data and receipts found in Abbott's truck indicated that he was in the area of Highway 11 during that time—the same area where Kristin's body was found. (R.2:2-3; 213:42.) After going missing for nearly two days, Abbott returned home having a mental breakdown and with suspicious injuries to his person, including a bite-mark to his wrist. (R.2:2; 213:5, 12, 52–53.) Finally, Abbott told his wife that he thought he killed Kristin and told his brother that he "may have done something bad." (R.213:14, 55.)

By contrast, Abbott's defense was weak. *Rockette*, 287 Wis. 2d 257, ¶ 26; *Semrau*, 233 Wis. 2d 508, ¶ 22. Abbott claimed only that he could not remember what happened: he offered no explanation for his activities during the time that he was missing to counter the State's strong, evidence-based contention that he was killing Kristin and disposing of her body. *See* (R.226, Ex.5, 15:15–15:35, 33:45–34:15.)

Finally, Abbott obtained a significant benefit from the plea bargain. *Semrau*, 233 Wis. 2d 508, ¶ 22. In exchange for his plea, Abbott received the opportunity to be released from prison in his lifetime. (R.122 (information); 172 (amended information); Wis. Stat. §§ 939.50, 940.01. The State also dismissed a penalty enhancer and second charge that could have added 15 years to Abbott's sentence. (R.122; 172.)

If this Court holds that the State must prove harmlessness and disagrees that the record shows Abbott's plea decision would have remained the same if some or all of Case 2019AP000021 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-23-2019 Page 44 of 49

the disputed evidence had been suppressed, then the State respectfully requests that this Court remand for an evidentiary hearing. The record indicates that the State had more evidence against Abbott. (See R.226, Ex.5, 46:40–47:10, 52:00-:15, 1:04:35-:45, 1:25:20-:40; Ex.6, 5:30-:45 (discussing additional evidence).) It also appears that the State, as a result of Abbott's plea here, may have dismissed a separate case against Abbott involving numerous charges of possession of child pornography and carrying a possible punishment of up to 225 years' imprisonment. (R.69 (copy of criminal complaint in Racine County Case No. 2013CF260); 223 (Alford plea entered in the present case on Sept. 27, 2017)); Hearing, State v. Abbott, No. 2013CF260 (Racine Cty. Cir. Ct., Oct. 16, 2017) (dismissing case without prejudice on State's motion). Because this information is not sufficiently set out in the record, this Court should remand for further fact-finding before permitting Abbott to withdraw his plea. See, e.g., State v. Anker, 2014 WI App 107, ¶ 27, 357 Wis. 2d 565, 855 N.W.2d 483.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the decisions of the circuit court and deny Abbott's request to withdraw his plea. If this Court disagrees with any of the circuit court's decisions, this Court should hold that Abbott has failed to show causation, or that the State has shown harmlessness. If this Court holds that the State must show harmlessness and believes that the State cannot meet that burden on this record, then this Court should remand for an evidentiary hearing.